STAFF REPORT

Agenda Item 8: Financial and Records Retention Policy Update Monday, August 5, 2024

<u>The Strategic Plan</u> relevant priority is **Administration** through sound and sustainable management of District Finances.

Background

Financial policies provide guidelines for financial decision making and are central to a strategic, long-term approach to financial management. A records retention schedule and policy are important to ensure that records are kept as long as legally and operationally required and that obsolete records are disposed of in a systematic and controlled manner. The District has never adopted a Retention Policy to date. The Board has historically developed and approved individual policies. This approach does not lead to a comprehensive collection of policies for the Board, management and the public.

Discussion

The proposed financial policies are provided to assist in the stewardship of the District's financial position. They were developed using the California Special District Association policy manual template and reviewed by the District's Certified Accountant, Legal Counsel, and Treasurer Bailey. It is recommended to adopt the financial policies by resolution, marking the implementation of a new format, and all future policies/policy updates be tracked by date of Board adoption.

It is recommended the following financial policies be repealed with the adoption of the updated financial policies:

#23-01 Revising #18-01 Bank Account Balances & Investments

#18-02 Reserves Policy

#16-02 Purchasing Policy

#02-02 Charging for Copies

#93-01 The Loan of District Funds

The Records Retention, Electronic Document Retention, and Electronic Signature Policies have been reviewed by Legal Counsel and can be adopted by the Board without a resolution.

Recommendation:

- o Move to approve Resolution #24-07 Adopting Financial Policies; and
- o Move to repeal financial policies #93-01, #18-02, #16-02, #02-02, and #93-01; and
- Move to adopt the Records Retention, Electronic Document Retention, and Electronic Signature Policies; and
- O Direct staff to finalize the approved Policies.

Attachments:

- o Resolution #24-07 Adopting Financial Policies (Exhibit A will be only the Financial Policies)
- o Proposed records related and financial policies.

* * * *

Resolution #24-07

of the Mendocino County Russian River Flood Control & Water Conservation Improvement District

Adopting Financial Policies

WHEREAS, the Mendocino County Russian River Flood Control & Water Conservation Improvement District ("District") has a responsibility to ensure that public funds are managed in a prudent and financially sound manner; and

WHEREAS, written, adopted financial policies and internal controls have many benefits in assisting the Board of Trustees and General Manager with the financial management of the District; and

WHEREAS, financial and internal control policies that promote sound financial management practices designed to meet District goals and objectives; and

WHEREAS, staff has prepared Financial Policies that outlines procedures, safeguards, and internal controls for public fund management which have been reviewed by the Districts certified accountant and legal counsel; and

WHEREAS, the Financial Policies attached hereto as Exhibit A, have been presented to the Board of Trustees on August 5, 2024.

BE IT RESOLVED, that:

- (1) The Mendocino County Russian River Flood Control & Water Conservation Improvement District Financial Policies, attached hereto as Attachment A, is hereby adopted.
- (2) Any and all prior District financial policies are hereby repealed and revoked.
- (3) Future updates of financial policies will be tracked in the Policy Manual with the date of Board approval.

ADOPTED by the Board of Trustees of the Mendocino County Russian River Flood Control & Water Conservation Improvement District on 5th day of August, 2024.

John Reardan	Yes / No / Abstain / Absent
Tyler Rodrigue	Yes / No / Abstain / Absent
John Bailey	Yes / No / Abstain / Absent
Christopher Watt	Yes / No / Abstain / Absent
Dave Koball	Yes / No / Abstain / Absent
Signed:	
Christ	opher Watt, President
	Attest:
	Elizabeth Salomone, General Manager

Table of Contents:

2000 Administration

General		Last Updated
	2010 Records Retention	/
	2020 Electronic Document Retention	//
	2020 Electronic Signature	//
Financial	Management Policies	Last Updated
	2100 Accounts Receivable	/
	2101 Charges for Copies	//
	2105 Asset Protection and Fraud in the Workplace	_/_/_
	2110 Budget Preparation	_/_/_
	2115 Credit Card Use	_/_/_
	2120 Employment of Outside Contractors and Consultants	_/_/_
	2125 Expense Authorization	
	2130 Investment of District Funds	_/_/_
	2150 Reserve Policy	
	2155 Debt Management	
	2160 Internal Controls	_/_/_

2010 Records Retention

The following retention schedule identifies the length of time each District record must be retained in active storage in District facility and a time period that the original record must be kept in archived storage before it can be placed in permanent storage or destroyed. The retention period is the period of time during which records must be kept before final disposition into permanent storage or destruction. The column for retention period includes description and a number. The description represents the triggering event that commences the retention period. The number represents the number of years (unless otherwise noted) that the District must keep the record.

The General Manager is authorized by the Board of Trustees to interpret and implement this policy, and to cause to be destroyed any or all such records, papers and documents that meet the qualifications governing the retention and disposal of records, specified below, after consultation with the General Counsel.

The following is the District's retention schedule:

	Retention Period (Years Unless Specified)		
Record	Active (Office)	Inactive (Archives)	
FINANCE			
Accounting Records			
Bank Deposits	Audit	Audit + 2	
Bank Statements	Audit	Audit + 5	
Purchase Orders (retained copy)	Audit	Audit + 2	
Warrants, Checks	Audit	Audit + 7	
Journal Vouches	Audit	Audit + 7	
Ledgers	Audit	Audit + 7	
Trial Balance (general ledger)	Audit	Audit + 2	
Balance Sheet	Audit	Audit + 2	
Budget	Audit + 5	Permanent	
Audits	Audit + 10	Permanent	
Audit Review or Hearing	Audit	Audit + 2	
Documentation			
Improvement Districts	Life + 5	Permanent	
Loans & Grants	Life	Life + 5	
Cash Receipts	Audit	Audit + 5	
Security Deposits	Audit	Audit + 5	
Payroll	Audit	Audit + 5	
Warrant Voucher	Audit	Audit + 5	
Meter Books	Audit	Audit + 5	
Depreciation Schedules	Audit	AU + 5	
Annual Financial Report	Closed/Completion	Closed/Completion + 2	
Bonds (Final Bond Documentation)	Closed/Completion	Closed/Completion + 10	
Grants	Closed/Completion	Closed/Completion + 5	

	Retention Period (Years Unless Specified)	
Record	Active (Office)	Inactive (Archives)
Payroll, personnel forms and authorizations	Current Year	Current Year + 3
Vehicle Mileage Reimbursement Rates	Record is Superseded	Record is Superseded + 2
Travel Records	Current Year + 2	Current Year + 2
Bonds and Garnishments	Date of Termination	Date of Termination + 3
Accident Reports, Injury Claims & Settlements	Closed/Completion	Closed/Completion + 3
Employee Rights (grievances, union requests, sexual harassment, civil rights, disciplinary actions, etc.)	Date of Termination	Date of Termination + 6
Benefit Plan Claims	Permanent	Permanent
Denial of Benefit Plan Enrollment	Closed/Completion	Closed/Completion + 4
DMV Reports	Closed/Completion	Closed/Completion + 7
Immigration Earning Records	Date of Termination	Date of Termination + 3
IRS Forms	Current Year	Current Year + 3
Employee Handbook	S	S + 2
Employee Programs (EAP, etc.)	Closed/Completion	Closed/Completion + 2
Medical Leave	C Closed/Completion L	Closed/Completion + 30
Negotiation (notes, correspondence, MOUs)	Record is Superseded + 2	Permanent
Employment Test Results (Non Hires)	Closed/Completion	Closed/Completion + 2
Employment Applications, Tests, Changes, Terminations	Date of Termination	Date of Termination + 3
Employee Insurance Records	Date of Termination	Date of Termination
Job Descriptions	Record is Superseded	Record is Superseded + 3
Job Announcements, Recruitment Materials, Eligibility Lists	Closed/Completion	Closed/Completion + 3
Performance Evaluations & Disciplinary Actions	Date of Termination	Date of Termination + 6
Retirements	Life	Life
Time Sheets or Cards	Closed/Completion	Closed/Completion + 5
Employee Training Records	Current Year + 7	-

	Retention Period (Years Unless Specified)	
Record	Active (Office)	Inactive (Archives)
Reports and Surveys from State Agencies	Current Year	Current Year + 10
Customer Complaints	Current Year	Current Year + 2
Work Orders	Current Year	Current Year + 2
Water Rights and Water Permits and Licenses	Life	Life + 5
Master Plans	Life + 5	Permanent
Groundwater and Project Studies	Life + 5	Permanent
Construction photos and videos	Life	Life + 5
OSHA and other agency Certificates and Permits	Life	Life + 2
ENGINEERING		
	Retention Period (Years Unless Specified)	
Record	Active (Office)	Inactive (Archives)
Construction Project Inspection Reports	Closed/Completion	Life + 7
Construction Videos and Photos	Closed/Completion	Life + 7
Reports, Plans, Studies Contracted by District	Closed/Completion	Closed/Completion + 7
Bids, Proposals and Notices	Closed/Completion	Closed/Completion + 3
Contract and As-Built Drawings and Submittals	Closed/Completion + 7	P
Construction Related	Closed/Completion	Closed/Completion + 7

Life + 3

Life + 3

Life

Permanent

Life

Life

Life

Life

Permits (Issued by Others)

Reports Maps

Deeds

Environmental Impact Studies and

Easements, Encroachments and

Record	Retention Period (Years Unless Specified)	
Record	Active (Office)	Inactive (Archives)
Correspondence (To or From	Current Year	Current Year + 2
District)		
Staff and Committee Reports	Current Year	Current Year + 2
Agreements, Contracts, Leases	Date of Termination + 4	Permanent
Legal Opinions	Current Year	Current Year + 5
Annexations and Detachments	Record is Superseded	Permanent
Policies, Rules and Regulations	Record is Superseded	Record is Superseded + 5
Press Releases and Newsletters	Current Year	Current Year + 2
Record	Active (Office)	Inactive (Archives)
Record	Retention Period (Years Unless Specified)	
D 1 0 1 1D 111		
Purchase Orders and Requisitions (with backup)	Closed/Completion	Closed/Completion + 3
Inventory Records	Current Year	Current Year + 3
Disposal of Surplus Property	Current Year	Current Year + 3
Bids and Quotes	Closed/Completion	Closed/Completion + 2
Maintenance Agreements	Life	Life + 4
1-1411100-141100-141101-141	T.I.I.C	
ADMINISTRATION		
Record	Retention Period (Years Unless Specified)	
Recold	Active (Office)	Inactive (Archives)
Agendas (Board)	Current Year + 2	Permanent
		l B
Minutes (Board)	CU + 5	Permanent
	CU + 5 Permanent Current Year +1	Permanent Permanent Current Year +1

Record	Retention Period (Years Unless Specified)	
Record	Active (Office)	Inactive (Archives)
Elections Materials and Results	Election	Election + 5
Proposition 218 Ballots	Election	Permanent
Canvass	Election	Permanent
Campaign Statements, Conflict of Interest	Current Year	Current Year + 5
Campaign Disclosure (Elected)	Election	Permanent
Campaign Disclosure (Not Elected)	Election	Election + 5
Candidate Statements	Election	Election + 4
Statement of Economic Interest (Elected)	Date of Termination	Date of Termination + 7
Statement of Economic Interest (Not Elected)	Election	Election + 5
Oaths of Office	Date of Termination	Date of Termination + 6
RISK MANAGEMENT	Potentian Posied (Voore Unless Specified)
Record	Retention Period (Years Unless Specification Active (Office) Inactive (A	
Insurance	Current Year	Current Year + 5
Accident Reports	Closed/Completion	Closed/Completion + 7
Bonds, Insurance	Current Year +3	Permanent
Incident Reports	Closed/Completion	Closed/Completion + 7
Insurance (Joint Powers Agreement)	Closed/Completion + 4	Permanent

Current Year + 4

Closed/Completion + 5

Current Year

Permanent

Permanent

Current Year + 5

Worker's Compensation Insurance

Suits, Claims, Liens where District is

Risk Management Reports

and Claims

Party

2020 Electronic Document Retention

This policy governs the retention of text messages, voicemail messages, social media posts, and email messages sent or received in the conduct of District business.

Definitions

- 1. Email Message: An electronic communication sent and received via web mail or email client.
- 2. Social Media: Information posted to websites and applications that enable users to create and share content or to participate in social networking, including Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, Snapchat, and LinkedIn.
- 3. Text Message: An electronic, written communication sent and received via telephone or Internet connection.
- 4. Voicemail Message: An electronic, aural communication sent or received via telephone or Internet connection.

Text messages, voicemail messages, and social media posts not saved to an archive, or a more permanent medium are intended to be ephemeral documents, not preserved in the ordinary course of business. Accordingly, they do not constitute disclosable public records, as that term is defined by Government Code section 6252, subdivision (e). Trustees and District staff are not required to retain these electronic documents. Business done on behalf of the District that requires the creation and preservation of records should be conducted in other media.

Records contained in emails shall be moved to an alternate location and stored based on their content and the associated retention period.

This policy applies only to the conduct of District business that is subject to the Public Records Act. It has no application to communications to or from Trustees in their other public and private capacities or communications to or from District staff that are personal, private, or otherwise not District business.

2030 Electronic Signature (TBD)

This Policy establishes when electronic signature technology may replace a hand-written signature, applies to all signatures used in processing various District documents, and assumes the signer has authority to sign the document. This Policy applies to documents requiring a signature of any person where the signature is intended to show authorship, approval, authorization, or certification, as allowed by law. This Policy does not require any party to use electronic signatures.

Digital or electronic signature means an electronic identifier, created by computer, intended by the party using it to have the same force and effect as the use of a manual signature

The use of electronic signatures is permitted and shall have the same force and effect as the use of a "wet" or manual signature if all the following criteria are met: 1. The electronic signature is unique to the person using it. 2. The electronic signature is capable of verification. 3. The electronic signature is under the sole control of the person using it. 4. The electronic signature is linked to the data in such a manner that if the data is changed after the electronic signature is affixed, the electronic signature is invalidated.

Electronic Records will be retained consistent with the document retention policy and all parties to the record/transaction will be provided a copy of Electronic Records.

Financial Management

2100 Accounts Receivable

It is the policy of the District that accounts receivable be reviewed monthly, as it is critical to the cash flow of the District and requires continued follow-up and attention.

Procedures:

- a) The accounts receivable balances are reviewed monthly by the General Manager and presented in a monthly financial staff report for approval by the Board of Trustees at the next Board meeting.
- b) Bills for sale and delivery of water not paid on or before the twenty-fifth (25th) day following the billing date are considered delinquent at which time notices are sent.
- c) Finance charges of 10% percent per month are assessed on all accounts past due as provided by District Ordinance #00-01.
- d) Credit memos are limited to control of the General Manager or designee.

2101 Charges for Copies

The District will charge twenty five (25) cents per page requested by a member of the public or an organization. If copies are to be mailed, the requestor will provide a self-addressed stamped envelope. There is no charge for electronic file transmissions.

2105 Asset Protection and Fraud in the Workplace

The District is committed to protecting its assets against the risk of loss or misuse. Accordingly, it is the policy of the District to identify and promptly investigate any possibility of fraudulent or related dishonest activities against the District and, when appropriate, to pursue available legal remedies.

This policy establishes procedures for clarifying acts that are considered to be fraudulent, describing the steps to be taken when fraud or other dishonest activities are suspected, and providing procedures to follow in accounting for missing funds, restitution, and recoveries.

Definitions:

- 1. Fraud Fraud and other similar irregularities include, but are not limited to:
 - a) Claim for reimbursement of expenses that are not job-related or authorized by District policy;
 - b) Forgery, falsification, or unauthorized alteration of documents or records (including but not limited to checks, promissory notes, time sheets, independent contractor agreements, purchase orders, budgets, etc.);
 - c) Misappropriation of District assets (including but not limited to funds, securities, supplies, furniture, equipment, etc.);
 - d) Inappropriate use of District resources (including but not limited to labor, time, and materials);
 - e) Improprieties in the handling or reporting of money or financial transactions;
 - f) Authorizing or receiving payment for goods not received or services not performed;

- g) Computer-related activity involving unauthorized alteration, destruction, forgery, or manipulation of data or misappropriation of District-owned or –licensed software;
- h) Misrepresentation of information;
- i) Theft of equipment or other goods;
- j) Any apparent violation of federal, state, or local laws related to dishonest activities or fraud;
- k) Seeking or accepting anything of material value from those doing business with the District including vendors, consultants, contractors, lessees, applicants, and grantees. Materiality is determined by the District's Conflict of Interest Code which incorporates the Fair Political Practices Commission's regulations;
- l) Any other conduct, actions or activities treated as fraud or misappropriation under any federal or state law, rule or regulation.
- 2. Employee In this context, "employee" refers to any individual or group of individuals who receive compensation, either full- or part-time, including members of the Board of Trustees, from the District. The term also includes any volunteer who provides services to the District through an authorized arrangement with the District or a District organization.
- 3. Management In this context, "management" refers to any manager, supervisor, or other individual who manages or supervises District's resources or assets.
- 4. Internal Audit Committee In this context, if the claim of fraud involves anyone other than the District's General Manager, the Internal Audit Committee shall consist of the General Manager, the District's Legal Counsel, and any other persons appointed to the Internal Audit Committee by the General Manager. If the claim of fraud involves the District's General Manager, the Internal Audit Committee shall consist of the President of the Board of Trustees of the District, the District's Legal Counsel, and those persons appointed to the Internal Audit Committee by the President of the Board. Nothing contained in this policy shall be construed as requiring the General Manager or the President of the Board to appoint other persons to the Internal Audit Committee. Individuals appointed to the Internal Audit Committee by the General Manager or the President of the Board other than the District's Legal Counsel shall serve at the pleasure of the General Manager or the President of the Board.
- 5. External Auditor In this context, "External Auditor" refers to independent audit professionals appointed by the District's Board of Trustees to perform annual audits of the District's financial statements.

Procedures

It is the District's intent to fully investigate any suspected acts of fraud, misappropriation, or other similar irregularity. An objective and impartial investigation will be conducted regardless of the position, title, and length of service or relationship with the District of any party who might be or become involved in or become the subject of such investigation. An employee being investigated for fraud may request representation by a representative of any recognized bargaining unit that represents the employee.

The General Manager is responsible for instituting and maintaining a system of internal controls to provide reasonable assurance of the prevention and detection of fraud, misappropriations, and other irregularities.

For claims of fraud the Internal Audit Committee shall have primary responsibility for investigation of activity covered by this policy. The District's General Counsel shall advise the Committee, the General Manager, and/or the Board President on all such investigations. Throughout the investigation, the Internal Audit Committee will inform the General Manager of pertinent investigative findings.

An employee will be granted whistle-blower protection when acting in accordance with this policy so long as they have not engaged in activity that violates this policy. When informed of a suspected impropriety, neither the District nor any person acting on its behalf shall:

- a) Dismiss or threaten to dismiss an employee providing the information,
- b) Discipline, suspend, or threaten to discipline or suspend such an employee,
- c) Impose any penalty upon such an employee, or
- d) Intimidate or coerce such an employee.
- e) Violations of this whistle-blower protection policy will result in discipline up to and including termination.

Upon conclusion of an investigation, the results will be reported to the General Manager or, if the investigation involves the General Manager, the Board President, either of whom shall advise the Board of Trustees. Following review of investigation results, the General Manager or the Board, as the case may be, will take appropriate action regarding employee misconduct. Disciplinary action can include employment discipline up to and including termination, referral for criminal prosecution, or both.

The General Manager or the General Counsel will pursue every reasonable effort, including court-ordered restitution, to obtain recovery of District losses from the offender, other responsible parties, insurers, or other appropriate sources unless the Board should otherwise direct in consultation with General Counsel.

Board of Directors Responsibilities

If a Board Member has reason to suspect a fraud has occurred, he or she shall immediately contact the General Manager or the Board President, if the activity involves the General Manager, and the District's Legal Counsel. The Board Member shall not attempt to investigate the suspected fraud or discuss the matter with anyone other than the General Manager or Board President, as the case may be, and the District's Legal Counsel. The alleged fraud or audit investigation shall not be discussed with the media by any person other than the General Manager or the Board President after consultation with the District's Legal Counsel and any Internal Audit Committee appointed as to the matter.

Management Responsibilities

Management staff are responsible for being alert to and reporting fraudulent or related dishonest activities in their areas of responsibility, remain familiar with the types of improprieties that might occur, and be alert for any indication that improper activity, misappropriation, or dishonest activity did occur or is occurring. When an improper activity is detected or suspected, management should determine whether an error or mistake has occurred or if there may be dishonest or fraudulent activity. If a manager determines a suspected activity may involve fraud or related dishonest activity, the General Manager should be contacted. If the activity involves the General Manager, it shall be reported to the Board President or the District's Legal Counsel.

Managers should not attempt to conduct individual investigations, interviews, or interrogations other than as directed by the General Manager or General Counsel. However, management staff are responsible for taking appropriate corrective actions to implement adequate controls to prevent recurrence of improper actions.

Management staff should support the District's responsibilities and cooperate fully with the Internal Audit Committee, other involved departments, and law enforcement agencies in the detection, reporting, and investigation of criminal acts, including the prosecution of offenders. Management staff must give full and unrestricted access to all necessary records and Personnel to those responsible for identifying, investigating and remedying fraud and related dishonest acts. All District assets, including furniture, desks, and computers, are open to inspection at any time. No District officer, agent or employee has a reasonable expectation of privacy in District property and other resources to preclude such inspection.

In dealing with suspected dishonest or fraudulent activities, great care must be taken. Therefore, management staff should avoid the following:

- 1. Incorrect accusations;
- 2. Alerting suspected individuals that an investigation is underway;
- 3. Treating employees unfairly; and
- 4. Making statements that could lead to claims of false accusations or other offenses.

In handling dishonest or fraudulent activities, managers have the responsibility to:

- 1. Make no contact (unless requested) with the suspected individual to determine facts or demand restitution. Under no circumstances should there be any reference to "what you did", "the crime", "the fraud", "the misappropriation", etc;
- 2. Avoid discussing the case, facts, suspicions, or allegations with anyone outside the District, unless specifically directed to do so by the General Manager or the Board President; and
- 3. Avoid discussing the case with anyone inside the District other than employees who have a need to know such as the General Manager, Internal Audit Committee, or the District's Legal Counsel.
- 4. Direct all inquiries from the suspected individual, or their representative, to the General Manager, the Board President, or the District's Legal Counsel. All inquiries by an attorney representing a suspected individual should be directed to the General Manager or the District's Legal Counsel. All inquiries from the media should be directed to the General Manager or the Board President, if the activity involves the General Manager.
- 5. Take appropriate corrective and disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal, after consulting with the Board and Legal Counsel, in conformance with District policy and applicable law.

Employee Responsibilities

A suspected fraudulent incident or practice observed by, or made known to, an employee must be reported to the employee's supervisor for reporting to the proper management official. When an employee believes their supervisor may be involved in inappropriate activity, the employee shall make the report to the next higher level of management and/or the General Manager. If the activity involves the General Manager, it shall be reported to the Board President or the District's Legal Counsel. A reporting employee shall refrain from further investigation of the incident, confrontation with the alleged violator, or further discussion of the incident with anyone, unless requested by the General Manager, Internal Audit Committee, the District's Legal Counsel, or law enforcement personnel.

Internal Audit Committee Responsibilities

Upon assignment by the General Manager or the Board President, an Internal Audit Committee will promptly investigate the allegations. In all circumstances where a reason to suspect a criminal fraud has occurred, the Internal Audit Committee, in consultation with the District General Manager or the Board President and Legal Counsel, if the General Manager is suspected of involvement in the fraud, will contact the appropriate law enforcement agency. The Internal Audit Committee shall be available and receptive to relevant, confidential information to the extent allowed by law after consultation with the District's Legal Counsel.

If evidence is uncovered showing possible dishonest or fraudulent activities, the Internal Audit Committee will:

- 1. Discuss the findings with management and the General Manager;
- 2. Advise management, if the case involves District staff members, to meet with the General Manager (or their designated representative) to determine if disciplinary action should be taken;
- 3. Report to the External Auditor such activities to assess the effect of the illegal activity on the District's financial statements:
- 4. Coordinate with the General Manager regarding notification to insurers and filing of insurance claims;
- 5. Take immediate action, after consultation with the Legal Counsel, to prevent the theft, alteration, or destruction of evidence. Such action shall include, but is not limited to:
 - a. Removing relevant records and placing them in a secure location, or limiting access to those records
 - b. Preventing the individual suspected of committing the fraud from having access to the records.
- 6. In consultation with the District Legal Counsel and the local law enforcement agency, the Internal Audit Committee may disclose particulars of the investigation to potential witnesses if such disclosure would further the investigation.
- 7. If the Internal Audit Committee is contacted by the media regarding an alleged fraud or audit investigation, the Internal Audit Committee will refer the media to the General Manager or Board President, if the activity involves the General Manager.

- 8. At the conclusion of the investigation, the Internal Audit Committee will document the results in a confidential memorandum report to the General Manager or the Board President for action. If the report concludes that the allegations are founded and the District's Legal Counsel has determined that a crime has occurred, the report will be forwarded to the appropriate law enforcement agency.
- 9. The Internal Audit Committee shall make recommendations to the appropriate department as to the prevention of future similar occurrences.
- 10. Upon completion of the investigation, including all legal and personnel actions; all records, documents, and other evidentiary material, obtained from the department under investigation will be returned by the Internal Audit Committee to that department.

Exceptions

There will be no exceptions to this policy unless provided and approved in writing by the General Manager or the Board President and the District Legal Counsel. The Board of Trustees reserves the right to amend, delete, or revise this policy at any time by formal action of the Board of Trustees.

2110 Budget Preparation

A preliminary annual budget workshop shall be prepared by the General Manager in consultation with the Board Treasurer and reviewed by the Board at its meeting in April or May. The final annual budget shall be adopted at the Board meeting in June. Proposed budget amendments can be developed by the General Manager and Treasurer and presented to the Board for approval during any Board meeting throughout the year. Care should be taken to ensure the budget provides adequate revenues to cover expenses and maintain targeting reserve levels.

2115 Credit Card Use

A credit card shall be issued to the General Manager. Credit cards shall not be issued or used by members of the Board of Trustees. Directors will use their personal credit cards for lawful expenses of the District and seek reimbursement on a form provided by the District for that purpose.

- a) All credit card bills shall be paid in a timely manner to avoid late fees and finance charges.
- b) All credit card expenses shall be reasonable and necessary for the furtherance of District business. No personal expenses shall be charged on a District credit card. If a transaction involves both personal and District business, the employee shall pay for the transaction personally and request reimbursement by the District of the appropriate portion of the expense.
- c) All credit card transactions shall have third-party documents (receipts.)
- d) The Treasurer shall review and approve credit card transactions by the General Manager through review of the monthly credit card bill and related receipts.
- e) All records of the District involving credit card use, including receipts, invoices, and requests for reimbursement are disclosable public records to be maintained consistently with the District's records management policy.

2120 Employment of Outside Contractors and Consultants

The District employs outside contractors or consultants to support District operations and implementation of the Board approved Strategic Plan. If public bidding requirements apply under law or the terms of any grant contract, the District shall comply to those requirements. Consultants will be selected based on the consultant's experience and qualifications. Consultants for engineering, architectural, and other professional services shall be evaluated based upon qualifications and not on cost of services per state law. Every person involved in the solicitation, selection, and approval of consultants shall comply with applicable conflicts of interest laws, including Government Code section 1090, the Political Reform Act of 1974, and the District's conflict of interest code.

2125 Expense Authorization

All purchases made for the District by staff shall be authorized by the General Manager and shall be in conformance with the approved District budget. Any purchase, whether operating, maintenance, or capital, which requires an expenditure of \$15,000 or less may be approved by the General Manager. Any commitment of District funds for a purchase or expense greater than \$15,000 shall first be submitted to the Board of Trustees for approval or shall be in conformance with prior Board action and/or authorizations. Payments included in a Board approved contract, which exceed the purchase approval threshold will be considered approved and may be paid by the General Manager or designee.

The General Manager shall have the authority to make payments on those monthly and recurring expenses that routinely fall below the purchase approval threshold and are considered normal business expenses.

The limits, restrictions and procedures set forth in this Policy shall be subject to any and all applicable annual budgetary amounts, contract terms and other authorizations as may be imposed by the Board of Trustees from time to time.

A "petty cash" fund may be maintained in the District office having a balance-on-hand maximum of \$200.00. Petty cash may be advanced to District staff or Directors upon their request and the execution of a receipt for same, for the purpose of procuring item(s) or service(s) appropriately relating to District business and a receipt for same shall be submitted to the General Manager with any remaining advanced funds shall be returned. No personal checks shall be cashed in the petty cash fund. The petty cash fund shall be included in the District's annual independent accounting audit.

Whenever employees or Trustees of the District incur "out-of-pocket" expenses for item(s) or service(s) appropriately relating to District business as verified by valid receipts, said expended cash shall be reimbursed upon request from the District's petty cash fund or by warrant request if needed. In those instances when a receipt is not obtainable, the requested reimbursement shall be approved by the General Manager before remuneration. The District may establish a reimbursement request form and, if it does, no reimbursement will be made without submission of a request on that form. Requests for reimbursement to the District must have a good faith basis. Submission of a request for a reimbursement without such a basis shall subject the requestor to appropriate sanctions, up to and including termination of employment and referral to an appropriate law enforcement agency for prosecution.

2130 Investment of District Funds

The cash management system of the District will be maintained to accurately monitor and forecast expenditures and revenues, thus enabling the District to invest funds to maximize efficiency as allowed by Government Code. This investment policy applies to all financial assets of the District. These funds are accounted for in the annual audited financial statements of the District.

The Board and persons authorized to make investment decisions subject to these policies are fiduciaries subject to the prudent investor standard. When investing, reinvesting, purchasing, acquiring, exchanging, selling, or managing public funds, a fiduciary shall act with care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing, including, but not limited to, the general economic conditions and the anticipated needs of the agency, that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiarity with those matters would use in the conduct of funds of a like character and with like aims, to safeguard the principal and maintain the liquidity needs of the District. Investments shall be made with judgment and care, under circumstances then prevailing, which persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, not for speculation. Investment officers acting in accordance with written procedures and the investment policy and exercising due diligence shall be relieved of personal responsibility for an individual security's credit risk or market price changes, provided deviations from expectations are reported in a timely fashion and appropriate action is taken to control adverse developments.

Officers and employees involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal business activity that could conflict with the proper execution of the investment program, or which could impair their ability to make impartial investment decisions.

As specified in California Government Code Section 53600.5, when investing, reinvesting, purchasing, acquiring, exchanging, selling and managing public funds, the primary objectives, in priority order, of the investment activities shall be:

- 1. Safety: Safety of principal is the foremost objective of the investment program. Investments of the District shall be undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the preservation of capital in the overall portfolio.
- 2. Liquidity: The investment portfolio will remain sufficiently liquid to enable the District to meet all operating requirements, which might be reasonably anticipated.
- 3. Return on Investments: The investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of attaining a market rate of return throughout budgetary and economic cycles, considering the investment risk constraints and the cash flow characteristics of the portfolio.

Funds may be invested in banks which are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. Savings accounts and active bank accounts will be insured and/or collateralized to the degree consistent with or exceeding the existing law or regulation. In accordance with California Government Code Section 53635.2, to be eligible to receive District deposits, a financial institution shall have received an overall rating of not less than "satisfactory" in its most recent evaluation by the appropriate federal financial supervisory agency of its record of meeting the credit needs of California's communities.

Funds may also be invested in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) and the California Cooperative Liquid Assets Securities System (CLASS.)

Delegation of Authority

The Board is permitted under Government Code Section 53607 to delegate responsibility to invest or reinvest District funds or to sell or exchange securities so purchased. Management responsibility for the investment program is hereby delegated by the Board to the General Manager and Treasurer who shall make all investment decisions and transactions in strict accordance with state law and with this Policy.

If authorized by the Board, the General Manager and Treasurer may utilize an external investment advisor to assist with investment decision-making and trade execution authority. The investment advisor shall be under the supervision of the General Manager and Treasurer and shall follow this Policy and such other written instructions as are provided.

The General Manager and Treasurer shall propose balance targets for investment accounts for Board approval annually at the time of budget development, considering anticipated expenditures and the District's Reserve Policy. The Board shall receive an account balance sheet monthly and can initiate and approve changes throughout the fiscal year.

The District will comply with the reporting requirements as defined in GC §53646 et seq. and GC §53607.

2150 Reserve Policy

The District shall maintain reserve funds from existing unrestricted funds as designated by the District's Reserve Policy. The Board of Trustees adopts policies to maintain a prudent level of financial resources and provide cost-effective, efficient public services through a stable rate structure and gradual rate increases. The District must be prepared for larger-scale regional investments that help to secure water resources within its service area and must be prepared for sudden emergencies and unexpected costs. This policy establishes the procedure and level of reserve funding to achieve the following specific goals:

- a) Fund replacement and major repairs for the District's physical assets.
- b) Fund regular replacement of computer hardware and software.
- c) Fund designated projects, programs, and/or other special uses not otherwise funded by grants or requiring additional monetary support;
- d) Fund capital improvements; and
- e) Maintain minimal operational sustainability in periods of economic uncertainty.

Use of District Reserves is limited to available "Unrestricted" Funds (not obligated by law, contract or agreement), including donations, interest earned, fees for service, or other non-grant earnings. All special use funds will be designated by formal action of the Board of Trustees. The goal of the District is to maintain reserves at a level that equals or exceeds the sum of the following components:

a) Operating Reserve:

Purpose: This amount is intended to mitigate funding six months of operating expenses. Limit: 50 percent of the annual operating expense budget.

b) Capital Reserve:

Purpose: This amount is intended to replace existing assets and fund future capital projects Limit: 15 percent of gross fixed assets as of the audit of the prior year plus 10 percent of the annual operating expense budget.

c) Emergency Reserve:

Purpose: This amount is intended to be protection against catastrophic loss and to provide a cushion in the event of unexpected circumstances.

Limit: 25 percent of the value of fixed assets

d) Water Supply Reliability Reserve:

Purpose: Reserves set aside for the specific purpose of securing/purchasing water supply and/or infrastructure for storage or supply distribution.

Limit: The costs associated with the District's share of these expenses could be as high as \$100 million. However, in order to initiate a prudent policy direction, the limit of this reserve shall not exceed \$20 million without further agreement on specific project participation and reserve assignment.

The District does not have a firm value to determine a contribution factor for Water Supply Reliability Reserve. Therefore, this Reserves Policy establishes that when revenue deposits exceed the account limits specified in District Policy, those exceedances will be deposited into Water Supply Reliability Reserve.

Monitoring Reserve Levels: The General Manager, in collaboration with the Treasurer, shall perform a reserve status analysis annually, to be provided to the Board of Directors' annual deliberation/approval of Budget and Reserve Funds.

Additional information may be provided to the Board of Trustees upon the occurrence of the following events:

- a) When a major change in conditions threatens the reserve levels established by this policy or calls into question the effectiveness of this policy;
- b) Upon General Manager and/or Board request.

2155 Debt Management

This Debt Policy is intended to comply with Government Code Section 8855(i) and shall govern all debt issued by the District. The District hereby recognizes that a fiscally prudent debt policy is required to:

- a) Maintain the District's sound financial position.
- b) Ensure the District has the flexibility to respond to changes in future service priorities, revenues, and operating expenses.
- c) Protect the District's creditworthiness.
- d) Ensure that all debt is structured to protect current and future taxpayers, ratepayers and constituents of the District.
- e) Ensure that the District's debt is consistent with the District's planning goals and objectives and capital improvement program or budget, as applicable.

Purposes for Which Debt May Be Issued

Long-term debt may be issued to finance the construction, acquisition, and rehabilitation of capital improvements and facilities, equipment, and land to be owned and operated by the District. Long-term debt financings are appropriate:

- a) When a project to be financed is necessary to provide District services.
- b) When the project to be financed will benefit constituents over several years.
- c) When total debt does not constitute an unreasonable burden to the District and its taxpayers or ratepayers.
- d) When the debt is used to refinance outstanding debt to reduce the total cost of the debt or to realize other benefits of a debt restructuring, such as increased flexibility in the use of cash and reserves.

Long-term debt financing will not generally be considered appropriate for current operating expenses and routine maintenance expenses. The District may use long-term debt financings subject to the following conditions:

- a) The project to be financed must be approved by the District Board.
- b) The weighted average maturity of the debt (or the portion of the debt allocated to the project) will not exceed the average useful life of the project to be financed.
- c) The District estimates that sufficient revenues will be available to service the debt through its maturity.
- d) The District determines that the issuance of the debt will comply with the applicable state and federal law.

Short-term debt may be issued to provide financing for the District's operational cash flows to maintain a steady and even cash flow balance as in anticipation of periodic receipts of property taxes and other revenues. Short-term debt may also be used to finance short-lived capital projects; for example, the District may undertake lease-purchase financing for equipment consistently with debt limit requirements of article XVI of the California Constitution, article XVI, § 18.

Financings on Behalf of Other Entities

The District may also find it beneficial to issue debt on behalf of other governmental agencies or private third parties to further the public purposes of District. In such cases, the District shall take reasonable steps to confirm the financial feasibility of the project to be financed and the financial solvency of any borrower and that the issuance of such debt is consistent with this policy.

Types of Debt - The following types of debt are allowable under this Debt Policy:

- a) General obligation bonds (GO Bonds)
- b) Bond or grant anticipation notes (BANs)
- c) Lease revenue bonds, certificates of participation (COPs) and lease-purchase transactions
- d) Other revenue bonds and COPs
- e) Tax and other revenue anticipation notes (TRANs)
- f) Land-secured financings, such as special tax revenue bonds issued under the Mello-Roos Community Facilities Act of 1982, as amended, and limited obligation bonds issued under applicable assessment statutes
- g) Tax increment financing to the extent permitted under State law
- h) Refunding Obligations
- i) State Revolving Loan Funds
- j) Lines of Credit

The District Board may from time to time find that other forms of debt would be beneficial to further its public purposes and may approve such debt without an amendment of this Debt Policy. Debt shall be issued as fixed rate debt unless the District makes a specific determination as to why a variable rate issue would be beneficial to the District in a specific circumstance.

Relationship of Debt to Capital Improvement Program and Budget

The District is committed to long-term capital planning. The District intends to issue debt for the purposes stated in this Debt Policy and to implement policy decisions incorporated in the District's capital budget and capital improvement plan.

The District shall strive to fund the upkeep and maintenance of its infrastructure and facilities due to normal wear and tear through the expenditure of available operating revenues ("pay as you go"). The District shall seek to avoid the use of debt to fund infrastructure and facilities improvements that are the result of normal wear and tear.

The District shall integrate its debt issuances with the goals of its capital improvement program by timing the issuance of debt to ensure that projects are available when needed in furtherance of the District's public purposes.

The District will comply with applicable state and federal law as it pertains to the maximum term of debt and the procedures for levying and imposing any related taxes, assessments, rates and charges.

When refinancing debt, it shall be the policy goal of the District to realize, whenever possible, and subject to any overriding non-financial policy considerations, the cost of refinancing should be less than the savings.

The District shall seek to time debt issues to avoid need for unplanned general fund expenditures for capital improvements or equipment.

Internal Control Procedures

When issuing debt, in addition to complying with the terms of this Debt Policy, the District shall comply with any other applicable policies regarding initial bond disclosure, continuing disclosure, post-issuance compliance, and investment of bond proceeds. Without limiting the foregoing, the District will periodically review the requirements of and will remain in compliance with the following:

- a) Any continuing disclosure undertakings entered into by the District in accordance with SEC Rule 15c2-12 (17 CFR § 240.15c2-12 "Municipal securities disclosure").
- b) Any federal tax compliance requirements, including, without limitation, arbitrage and rebate compliance.
- c) The District's investment policies as they relate to the use and investment of bond proceeds.

Proceeds of debt will be held either (a) by a third-party trustee or fiscal agent, which will disburse such proceeds to or upon the order of the District upon the submission of one or more written requisitions by the General Manager of the District (or written designee), or (b) by the District, to be held and accounted for in a separate fund or account to ensure debt proceeds are expended only for the purposes for which the debt was issued, the expenditure of which will be carefully documented by the District in records compliance with current accounting standards and subject to the District's annual audit.

2160 Internal Controls

There will be established procedures for the adequate separation of duties, including at least the following:

- a) all invoices presented for payment must be approved by the General Manager or designee;
- b) every check must be signed by two authorized signers and be in accordance with the District's procurement policy.
- c) all paid invoices shall be indicated as paid, and filed for reference;
- d) a monthly financial report will be presented to the Board of Trustees for approval at a public Board meeting.

All checks drawn on any District account, including but not limited to those for payroll and accounts payable, all warrants of the District, and transfers shall be signed by any two Board members or one Board member and the General Manager.

There will be an annual financial audit and any finding(s) shall be reported to the Board of Trustees with simultaneous notice to the General Manager.

There will be annual audits of the Property/Liability and Workers' Compensation Program claims paid by the District and those report(s) will be promptly presented to the Board of Trustees.

Excess funds may be deposited in or transferred to long-term investment accounts as the Board may, from time to time designate by resolution or policy. Funds in the investment account(s) shall only be withdrawn upon approval of the Board's Treasurer and General Manager. The requests for such transfers shall be signed by the General Manager and be supported by detailed information which shall be provided to the Treasurer approving the transfer and reported to the Board in the monthly financial reports.

To maximize interest earnings and manage District's cash flow needs, the General Manager will strive to maintain a reasonable balance in the checking accounts to off-set monthly bank charges, but at the same time recognizing that surplus funds should be transferred as appropriate to long-term investment accounts.

